STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_

Certiorari to Greenwood County

Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

\_\_\_\_\_

Opinion No. 2019-UP-007 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Jan. 4, 2019)

2016-GS-24-00108

\_\_\_\_\_

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

CARMINE JAMES MIRANDA, III,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-000479

\_\_\_\_\_

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ORIGINAL  
RECEIVED  
MAR 22 2019  
S.C. SUPREME COURT

**

## **QUESTIONS PRESENTED**

I. Did the Court of Appeals err in concluding the state presented a sufficient chain of custody related to the test results from Petitioner's medical blood draw where the state failed to identify the hospital laboratory technician who tested and analyzed Petitioner's sample?

II. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the trial court's instruction that the jury may infer, pursuant to South Carolina's implied consent law S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2950, that Petitioner was under the influence of alcohol if his blood alcohol content was 0.08 or higher where the blood draw in Petitioner's case was undertaken for medical purposes and did not conform with the requirements of the implied consent statute?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 11, 2016, the Greenwood County grand jury indicted Petitioner for felony driving under the influence resulting in death. R. 256-257. On August 1-3, 2016, Petitioner proceeded to trial before the Honorable Donald B. Hocker and a jury. R. 1. Patricia Bolen and Elizabeth Able represented Petitioner; Elizabeth White and Will Maxey represented the state. R. 1. The jury found Petitioner guilty as charged. R. 261, l. 13 – R. 262, l. 5. Judge Hocker sentenced Petitioner to sixteen years imprisonment. R. 283, l. 2.

On August 10, 2016, Petitioner served his notice of appeal. After briefing, the Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's conviction and sentence without the benefit of oral argument. App. 1-4; State v. Miranda, 2019-UP-007 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Jan. 4, 2019). Subsequently, Petitioner filed a petition for rehearing. App. 5-19. On February 21, 2019, the Court of Appeals denied the petition. App. 20.

Petitioner now files this petition for writ of certiorari.

## ARGUMENT

I. The Court of Appeals erred in concluding the state presented a sufficient chain of custody related to the test results from Petitioner's medical blood draw where the state failed to identify the hospital laboratory technician who tested and analyzed Petitioner's sample.

The chain of custody for the results of Petitioner's blood alcohol test was fatally incomplete as the state failed to identify the technician who tested and analyzed Petitioner's sample. R. 196, l. 23 – R. 207, l. 23. According to the state's evidence, Petitioner's blood was tested and analyzed in the chemistry lab at Self Regional Hospital in Greenwood. R. 193, ll. 14-23; R. 196, ll. 4-19. It was undisputed, however, that the state could *not* prove *who* tested and analyzed Petitioner's blood. R. 193, l. 24 – R. 194, l. 8; R. 203, l. 25 – R. 204, l. 12. At best, the state could narrow it down to *two* people, only one of whom testified at the trial. App. 193, l. 24 – R. 194, l. 8; R. 204, ll. 6-12. Despite the clear requirement in the case law that the proponent of the evidence establish a chain of custody as far as practicable, particularly for fungible evidence such as blood, and the state's admitted failure to establish who analyzed Petitioner's blood, the Court of Appeals found no error in the trial judge's admission in the test results. App. 1-4.

This Court “has long held that a party offering into evidence fungible items such as drugs or blood samples must establish a complete chain of custody as far as practicable.” State v. Sweet, 374 S.C. 1, 6, 647 S.E.2d 202, 205 (2007). Although the evidence must be clear as to who handled the evidence and what was done with it between the taking and the analysis, testimony from each custodian is not a prerequisite to establishing a chain of custody sufficient for admissibility. Benton v. Pellum, 232 S.C. 26, 33-34, 100 S.E.2d 534, 537 (1957); Sweet, 374 S.C. at 7, 647 S.E.2d at 206. If other evidence establishes the identity of those who handled the evidence and “reasonably

demonstrates the manner of handling of the evidence,” courts are willing to fill gaps in the chain of custody due to an absent witness. Sweet, 374 S.C. at 7, 647 S.E.2d at 206. “Proof of chain of custody need not negate all possibility of tampering so long as the chain of possession is complete.” State v. Carter, 344 S.C. 419, 424, 544 S.E.2d 835, 837 (2001). This Court has found evidence inadmissible “only where there is a missing link in the chain of possession because the identity of those who handled the [substance] was not established at least as far as practicable.” Id. Police need not account for every transfer of the fungible evidence, but must demonstrate a reasonable assurance the condition of the item remained the same from the time it was obtained until its introduction at trial. State v. Hatcher, 392 S.C. 86, 94, 708 S.E.2d 750, 754 (2011) (quoting State v. Price, 731 S.W.2d 287, 290 (Mo. Ct. App. 1987)).

Put simply, the state has the duty to establish a chain of custody as far as practicable. State v. Governor, 362 S.C. 609, 608 S.E.2d 474 (Ct. App. 2005). Where a piece of evidence passes through the hands of several people, the question of who handled it and what was done with it from the time it was obtained cannot be left to conjecture. Raino v. Goodyear Tire and Rubber Co., 309 S.C. 255, 422 S.E.2d 98 (1992); see also Tant v. Dan River Inc., 286 S.C. 140, 146, 332 S.E.2d 534, 537 (Ct. App. 1985) partially vacated on other grounds by Tant v. Dan River Co., 289 S.C. 325, 345 S.E.2d 495 (1986) (holding that the chain of evidence was “completely established” where the sample material was identified by the party who collected it and the DHEC lab technician who analyzed it). The proponent of the evidence must account for possession of the item from the time of the occurrence to the time the item is offered as evidence and establish that there were no alterations at any stage in the chain. State v. Wells, 336 S.C. 223, 426 S.E.2d 814 (Ct. App. 1992) overruled on other grounds by Burgess v. State, 329 S.C. 88, 495 S.E.2d 445 (1998) (holding that the trial court did not err in admitting clothes worn by defendant on

night of murder where agent who collected the clothes could not testify to how the clothes were handled once in the evidence holding room, but where no forensic testing was done on the clothes).

When challenged, the chain of custody for blood alcohol test results must trace possession of the specimen from the time it is taken from the body to the time it is analyzed. Raino, 309 S.C. at 258, 495 S.E.2d at 100; see also State v. Williams, 301 S.C. 369, 392 S.E.2d 181 (1990) (evidence of blood test was inadmissible where there was no evidence of who took and sealed or transported blood sample); see also Benton v. Pellum, 232 S.C. 26, 100 S.E.2d 534 (1957) (holding that “the party offering [a blood alcohol sample] is required to establish, at least as far as practicable, a complete chain of evidence, tracing possession from the time the specimen is taken from the human body to **the final custodian by whom it is analyzed**”)

In Raino, the plaintiff was injured in a car accident and sued Goodyear alleging the tires on his car were defective. 309 S.C. at 257-258, 422 S.E.2d at 99-100. In an effort to prove that the plaintiff’s intoxication was the proximate cause of the accident, not its tires, Goodyear sought to enter the results of the plaintiff’s blood alcohol test into evidence. Id. After the accident, Raino was taken to the hospital for treatment. A blood sample taken revealed Raino had a .10 BAC. Id. However, the trial court found the test results inadmissible because Goodyear failed to establish “any chain of evidence or custody.” Id.

On appeal, Goodyear argued that the tests should have been admitted because all hospital employees who handled the sample in the emergency room were medically qualified and the sample was immediately taken to the hospital lab. Id. This Court disagreed and found the chain fatally incomplete as Goodyear did not know who handled the blood sample, including who handled it in the lab. Id. This Court explained: “There are not mere gaps in the chain. [Goodyear] failed to establish the proper chain of custody.” Id.

7

In State v. Cribb, the defendant appealed his conviction for three counts of felony DUI raising, among other issues, the trial court's admission of his blood alcohol test results. Cribb argued that the state had failed to establish the chain of evidence as far as practicable. 310 S.C. at 522, 426 S.Ed.2d at 309. Two nurses treated Cribb when he arrived at the hospital. Id. One nurse administered an intravenous solution ("IV"). It was the hospital's practice to have the nurse administering the IV conduct the blood draw. Id. However, the nurse who administered the IV did not recall drawing Cribb's blood, but *assumed* that she would have due to the hospital's practice. Id. The evidence established that the second attending nurse did *not* conduct the blood draw. Id. Additionally, the state was also unable to identify who brought the blood sample to the lab for testing. Id.

This Court reversed Cribb's conviction, holding that the state failed to establish the identity of the persons who handled the test sample. Id. "The evidence in the record of this case does not identify those persons who handled the blood from the time it was drawn until the time it was tested." Id. Therefore, admitting the results of the blood alcohol test constituted an abuse of discretion. Id.

Petitioner's case is a mirror image of Cribb. As explained, in Cribb, the state could prove who tested the blood sample, but could not prove who drew the sample or transported it to the lab. In Petitioner's case, the state could identify who drew Petitioner's blood sample and who transported it to the lab, but state simply could not prove who tested the sample. R. 196, l. 23 – R. 207, l. 23. Like the blood sample in Cribb, the blood draw used in Petitioner's case was originally taken for medical purposes. In both cases, hospital documentation failed to complete the chain of evidence. In Petitioner's case, the results of the blood alcohol test included two express disclaimers

stating that the blood sample had no chain of custody and that the “RESULT MUST NOT BE USED FOR NON MEDICAL PURPOSES (EMPLOYMENT OR LEGAL TESTING). R. 284.

The apparent effort by the state and the Court of Appeals to equate the state’s failure to identify who tested the sample with the failure, in other cases, to identify everyone who came into contact with the disputed evidence misapprehends the controlling case law. See e.g., State v. Smith, 326 S.C. 39, 482 S.E.2d 777 (1997) (officer transporting sample left sample in his home refrigerator for two days); State v. Johnson, 318 S.C. 194, 456 S.E.2d 442 (Ct. App. 1995) (chain of evidence for crack cocaine was complete despite discrepancy in the date the drugs were turned over to the evidence technician because all handlers were identified); State v. Rogers, 361 S.C. 178, 603 S.E.2d 910 (Ct. App. 2004) (possession of purse that defendant’s fingerprint was recovered from was sufficiently established despite purse being returned to owner prior to fingerprinting); S.C. Dept’t. of Soc. Servs. v. Cochran, 364 S.C. 621, 614 S.E.2d 642 (2005) (courier for blood sample unknown). The governing case law provides that where the person who collected the sample to be tested and the person who finally analyzed the sample are both known and testify, the chain is sufficiently established absent proof of tampering, bad faith, or ill-motive. State v. Taylor, 360 S.C. 18, 25, 598 S.E.2d 735, 738 (Ct. App. 2004).

In Petitioner’s case, the final portion of the chain was missing. Nurse Rogers testified she drew Petitioner’s blood. Courier Lomax testified that he delivered the blood sample to the lab intact. However, there was no testimony as to who tested and analyzed Petitioner’s blood sample and how the sample was tested. R. 193, l. 12 – R. 208, l. 15. Specifically, hospital employment records established that Chris Allsep and Christy Lazzo were the two employees working in the hospital’s lab on the night of the accident. R. 205, l. 16 – R. 206, l. 13. Allsep testified that he did not remember whether he or Lazzo tested Petitioner’s blood sample, and his testimony was

restricted to what was *normal* procedure in the lab with like samples. R. 193, l. 14 – R. 196, l. 22. The state did not call Lazzo as a witness.

In its brief before the Court of Appeals, the state accused Petitioner of mischaracterizing the record concerning the evidence presented on whether Lazzo or Allsep tested the sample. FBOR at 12. According to the state, “Allsep testified that as part of his duties as a lab technician, he retrieved all samples from the centrifuge and placed them in the Vista 1500, which performed the analysis without any technician intervention.” FBOR at 12. The state’s position on appeal that Allsep tested the sample is contrary to the state’s position at trial and runs counter to the evidence in the record. On October 16, 2014, Lazzo and Allsep were the only “lab techs on shift.” R. 193, l. 24 – R. 194, l. 5. The two of them were “responsible for all blood alcohol testing that night.” R. 194, ll. 6-9. Allsep explained the testing procedures in general. R. 194, l. 22 – R. 195, l. 5. The solicitor asked, “And do you, as part of your job as a lab tech, retrieve all the samples from the Centrifuge and put them in the machine?” R. 195, ll. 6-8. Allsep responded, “Yes, I do.” R. 195, l. 9. On appeal, the state used this question and answer to argue that Allsep was the technician who actually tested Petitioner’s sample. FBOR at 12. By doing so, the state took this question and answer out of context and neglected to recognize the solicitor’s admission at trial that the person who analyzed Petitioner’s sample was unknown.

During argument on the motion to exclude the evidence, defense counsel noted that Allsep could not say that he was the one to analyze Petitioner’s sample because “[i]t was down to him or one other person.” R. 199, ll. 21-22. Defense counsel repeated, “the state can’t establish that it was Mr. Allsep versus Ms. Lazzo who would have handled the blood.” R. 204, ll. 4-5. Thereafter, the state admitted it could not prove which person – Allsep or Lazzo – analyzed Petitioner’s blood. R. 204, ll. 6-12. Specifically, and contrary to the state’s position on

appeal, the solicitor said, "It had to have been one - - they were the only two people working the lab that night. They're not the ones who would have actually performed any additional analysis. They simply would have put the tube in the machine." App. 204, ll. 6-10. The judge's questioning of the state further showed that the state could not demonstrate whether Lazzo or Allsep performed the analysis:

THE COURT: What document reflects the fact that it was Chris Allsep and Christy Lazzo who was in the lab that night? Is it on this ---

MR. MAXEY: It's not on that form. No, sir.

THE COURT: How are you able to determine that?

MR. MAXEY: Payroll records of who was working in the lab that night.

THE COURT: So how does he know that either he or Lazzo were the two lab techs that actually did the analysis, or put the thing in the Vista machine to do the analysis?

MR. MAXEY: They were the only two on shift that night.

THE COURT: Well, that's what you're telling me. How does he know that?

Q: How do you know that?

THE COURT: That he was working on the October 16<sup>th</sup> of 2014.

THE WITNESS: My payroll records show that I was working that night, and I was in chemistry.

THE COURT: You've looked at those records to - -

THE WITNESS: Yes.

THE COURT: - - confirm that you were working, and that Lazzo was working?

THE WITNESS: Correct.

R. 205, l. 23 – R. 206, l. 13. The state's position on appeal that because Allsep said he takes all samples from the centrifuge and places them in the testing machine meant that Allsep was the

person who analyzed Petitioner's sample runs contrary to the record – when read *in toto* – and to the state's admissions at trial. What is clear from the record is that the state did not know who performed the analysis on Petitioner's sample. The state used employment records to narrow down the potential individuals to Lazzo and Allsep, but the state could present no evidence to show which of the two performed the actual testing. While Allsep testified to general practices in the lab, Lazzo did not testify at all.

Like in Cribb, the state was limited to generating testimony on the lab's *usual practice and routine*, not what actually happened in Petitioner's case with Petitioner's blood sample. As Cribb makes clear, this is insufficient. The inexplicable failure to produce any evidence regarding which technician tested Petitioner's blood sample was more than a weak link in the chain of evidence, it was a fatal gap. The conclusion of the Court of Appeals to the contrary ignores controlling case law; therefore, Petitioner respectfully requests this Court grant the petition for writ of certiorari and order full briefing on this issue. See Rule 242(b)(3), SCACR.

II. The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's instruction that the jury may infer, pursuant to South Carolina's implied consent law S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2950, that Petitioner was under the influence of alcohol if his blood alcohol content was 0.08 or higher where the blood draw in Petitioner's case was undertaken for medical purposes and did not conform with the requirements of the implied consent statute.

The trial judge instructed the jury that the law permitted an inference that Petitioner was intoxicated at the time of the car accident because his blood alcohol content was greater than .08. Specifically, the trial judge charged the jury as follows:

Inferences of the amount of alcohol in the Defendant's blood at the time of the alleged violation is shown by chemical analysis of the Defendant's breath or other bodily fluids may be considered by you in deciding whether the Defendant was under the influence. If the alcohol concentration was 8/100ths of one percent, commonly known as .08, or more, it may be inferred that the Defendant was under the influence. This inference is simply an evidentiary fact to be considered by you along with the other evidence in this case and you may give it the weight you decide it should receive.

R. 258, ll. 2-15. The inference applies only where the blood testing was conducted pursuant to the implied consent statute. Petitioner's blood was not tested pursuant to the implied consent statute, which was an undisputed fact at trial. Therefore, the inference did not apply, and the trial judge erred in instructing the jury that such an inference was permissible. Furthermore, in light of the evidence presented against Petitioner, the error was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

South Carolina Code Section 56-5-2950 establishes a comprehensive implied consent regime detailing how evidence of a suspected DUI is to be collected, documented, and stored. Under S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2950(A), the "arresting officer" can administer a breathalyzer test or, under certain circumstances, order a urine or blood test on a suspect he has arrested on suspicion of drunk driving.

Unlike blood draws undertaken for medical purposes, a blood draw pursuant to the implied consent statute is done at the direction of law enforcement after the suspect has been arrested. See Cribb, 310 S.C. at 520-521, 426 S.E.2d at 308. In addition to empowering police, S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2950 also contains a number of procedural and evidentiary safeguards. S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2950(J).

No tests may be administered or samples obtained unless, upon activation of the video recording equipment and prior to the commencement of the testing procedure, the person has been given a written copy of and verbally informed that:

- (1) the person does not have to take the test or give the samples, but that the person's privilege to drive must be suspended or denied for at least six months with the option of ending the suspension if the person enrolls in the Ignition Interlock Device Program, if the person refuses to submit to the test, and that the person's refusal may be used against the person in court;
- (2) the person's privilege to drive must be suspended for at least one month with the option of ending the suspension if the person enrolls in the Ignition Interlock Device Program, if the person takes the test or gives the samples and has an alcohol concentration of fifteen one-hundredths of one percent or more;
- (3) the person has the right to have a qualified person of the person's own choosing conduct additional independent tests at the person's expense;
- (4) the person has the right to request a contested case hearing within thirty days of the issuance of the notice of suspension; and
- (5) if the person does not request a contested case hearing or if the person's suspension is upheld at the contested case hearing, the person shall enroll in an Alcohol and Drug Safety Action Program.

S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2950(B).

In addition, any blood test must be administered within three hours of a suspect's arrest.

S. C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2950(A). The arresting officer must also provide "affirmative assistance

to the person to contact a qualified person to conduct and obtain additional tests.” S.C. Code Ann. 56-5-2950(E).

In exchange for following the procedures and safeguards of S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2950, police and prosecutors are given a powerful evidentiary instruction:

In the criminal prosecution for a violation of Section 56-5-2930, 56-5-2933, or 56-5-2945 the alcohol concentration at the time of the test, as shown by chemical analysis of the person's breath or other body fluids, gives rise to the following:

(1) if the alcohol concentration was at that time five one-hundredths of one percent or less, it is conclusively presumed that the person was not under the influence of alcohol;

(2) if the alcohol concentration was at that time in excess of five one-hundredths of one percent but less than eight one-hundredths of one percent, this fact does not give rise to any inference that the person was or was not under the influence of alcohol, but this fact may be considered with other evidence in determining the guilt or innocence of the person; or

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