STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

On Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Greenwood County
Honorable Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2019-000479

RECEIVED
MAY 06 2019
S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

CARMINE JAMES MIRANDA, III,

Petitioner.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

DAVID M. STUMBO
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 516
Greenwood, SC 29648
(864) 942-8800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

⁶ Significantly, even assuming the results of the hospital's analysis were somehow improperly admitted into evidence, any error was entirely harmless because—notwithstanding the fact Miranda's defense during trial was predicated on the idea he was not driving his vehicle at the time of the collision as opposed to on the idea he had not been drinking—overwhelming evidence of Miranda's intoxication on the date of the incident independent from the analysis results was presented through the testimony of different witnesses establishing he reeked of alcohol, was slurring his speech, was combative, refused to submit to an investigative analysis of his blood, and admitted to drinking on that date. See City of Columbia v. Ervin, 330 S.C. 516, 522, 500 S.E.2d 483, 786 (1998) (finding no prejudice resulted from the admission of Ervin's refusal to submit to a breathalyzer test where testimony was presented establishing Ervin was unsteady on his feet, smelled of alcohol, exhibited slurred speech, cursed and threatened police officers, and tried to kick the window of a police vehicle); see also State v. Degnan, 305 S.C. 369, 372, 409 S.E.2d 346, 348 (1991) (finding no prejudice resulted from the admission of Degnan's refusal to submit to a breathalyzer test where the other evidence presented during trial established Degnan had a strong odor of alcohol on her breath, had difficulty walking, slurred her speech, and admitted she drank five or six beers); Williams, 297 S.C. at 292-293, 376 S.E.2d at 774 (“The odor of alcohol and [Williams's] belligerent attitude indicate he was intoxicated at the time the wreck occurred.”); State v. Wilson, 296 S.C. 73, 76, 370 S.E.2d 715, 716 (1988) (finding any error in the admission of blood test results was harmless because it was cumulative to other evidence of Wilson's intoxication, which included properly-admitted breathalyzer test results and testimony Wilson admitted to drinking a half pint of Vodka).

II.

The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed Miranda's conviction for felony driving under the influence because: (1) the trial judge properly instructed the jury on the statutory permissive inference of intoxication in light of the fact Miranda's blood alcohol concentration level was demonstrated to be greater than 0.08 percent by a reliable chemical analysis of his blood; and (2) any error that hypothetically could have occurred through the trial judge's presentation of a jury instruction on the statutory permissive inference was entirely harmless in light of the evidence and testimony presented, which included overwhelming evidence of Miranda's intoxication and expert testimony on the significance of Miranda's high blood alcohol concentration level.

Miranda contends the Court of Appeals erred by affirming the trial judge's decision to instruct the jury on the statutory permissive inference of intoxication that may be drawn when an individual is shown by chemical analysis to have a blood alcohol concentration level of 0.08 percent or greater. In support of that contention, Miranda maintains the statutory permissive inference codified in Section 56-5-2950(G) of the South Carolina Code of Laws was inapplicable to his case in light of the fact his blood sample was solely drawn and analyzed for medical treatment purposes. Miranda further maintains the purported error was not harmless because it permitted the jurors to infer he was intoxicated based on his exceedingly high blood alcohol concentration following the collision. Initially, the trial judge did not err by instructing the jury on the statutory permissive inference contained in Section 56-5-2950(G) because that inference was applicable to the facts and circumstances of Miranda's case in light of the fact a chemical analysis of his blood established he had a blood alcohol concentration level in excess of 0.08 percent following the collision. However, even if the trial judge did somehow err by instructing the jury on the statutory permissive inference, any possible error was entirely harmless in light of the evidence and testimony presented during trial, which included overwhelming evidence of Miranda's intoxication and expert testimony from Miranda's treating physician indicating Miranda's blood alcohol concentration level was at such a level it would render some drinkers

virtually comatose. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed Miranda's conviction on appeal. Miranda's petition for a writ of certiorari should be denied.

Relevant Facts

At the conclusion of the evidentiary phase of trial, the trial judge conducted a charge conference with the parties to discuss his intended jury instructions. (R. p. 221). During the charge conference, defense counsel asked the trial judge to remove an intended instruction on the inference that could be drawn from a blood alcohol concentration level of 0.08 percent or greater. (R. pp. 226-227). In support of that request, defense counsel argued the inference could only be properly charged when a blood sample was taken pursuant to South Carolina's implied consent statute. (R. p. 226). Furthermore, defense counsel maintained the appellate decision in State v. Cribb, 310 S.C. 518, 426 S.E.2d 306 (1992), could be read to say all the provisions of the implied consent statute were inapplicable if a blood sample was not taken pursuant to that statute. (R. pp. 226-227). In rebuttal, the solicitor argued the statutory inferences were a part of South Carolina law while the legislature had no intention for a jury not to be instructed on the inferences when a sample was not taken pursuant to the implied consent statute. (R. p. 227). Upon considering the matter, the trial judge denied defense counsel's request. (R. p. 227).

Thereafter, during his instructions to the jury, the trial judge—consistent with his earlier ruling—instructed the jurors they may infer the defendant was under the influence if his blood alcohol concentration level was 0.08 percent or higher. (R. p. 258). Regarding that permissive inference, the trial judge further explained it was simply something to be considered along with the other evidence in Miranda's case and they could give it the weight they decided it should receive. (R. p. 258). In addition to those instructions, the trial judge further charged the jury the State had the burden of proving Miranda's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, defined reasonable

doubt for the jury, and explained Miranda was presumed innocent and was not required to prove his innocence. (R. pp. 250-260).

Following the jury instructions, defense counsel renewed her earlier objection. (R. p. 260). The case was then submitted to the jury, and the jury ultimately convicted Miranda of felony driving under the influence. (R. pp. 261-262).

Standard of Review

When reviewing an issue involving a trial judge's jury charge, an appellate court must view the charge as a whole and in light of the evidence and issues from trial. State v. Simmons, 384 S.C. 145, 178, 682 S.E.2d 19, 36 (Ct. App. 2009); see Todd v. State, 355 S.C. 396, 402, 585 S.E.2d 305, 308 (2003) (“[J]ury charges should be examined in their entirety and not in isolation in analyzing whether the defendant’s due process rights have been violated.”). On appeal, the appropriate test involves determining what a reasonable juror would have understood the charge to mean. Sheppard v. State, 357 S.C. 646, 664, 594 S.E.2d 462, 474 (2004). So long as the jury instructions presented are substantially correct and cover the applicable law, reversal is not warranted. See State v. Ezell, 321 S.C. 421, 425, 468 S.E.2d 679, 681 (Ct. App. 1996) (“A jury charge which is substantially correct and covers the law does not require reversal.”); see also State v. Rye, 375 S.C. 119, 123, 651 S.E.2d 321, 323 (2007) (“A trial court’s decision regarding jury charges will not be reversed where the charges, as a whole, properly charged the law to be applied.”). Moreover, an appellate court will only reverse a trial judge’s decision regarding jury instructions when that decision constitutes an abuse of discretion resulting in actual prejudice. See Clark v. Cantrell, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000) (“An appellate court will not reverse the trial court’s decision regarding jury instructions unless the trial court abused its discretion.”); Rauch v. Zayas, 284 S.C. 594, 597, 327 S.E.2d 377, 378 (Ct. App. 1985) (“[A]n

alleged error in a portion of the charge must be prejudicial to the appellant to warrant a new trial.”).

Analysis

The purpose of a trial judge’s jury instructions is “to enlighten the jury and to aid it in arriving at a correct verdict.” State v. Leonard, 292 S.C. 133, 137, 355 S.E.2d 270, 273 (1987). To carry out that purpose, a trial judge is required to charge the jury on the current and correct South Carolina law applicable to the case based on the evidence presented. State v. Taylor, 356 S.C. 227, 231, 589 S.E.2d 1, 2 (2003); see State v. Brandt, 393 S.C. 526, 549, 713 S.E.2d 591, 603 (2011) (explaining a trial judge is required to instruct the jury on sound principles of law that are applicable to the case based on the evidence presented). In doing so, the trial judge is only required to instruct the jury on the substance of the law and does not have to use any particular verbiage. State v. Burkhardt, 350 S.C. 252, 261, 565 S.E.2d 298, 302 (2002); see Brandt, 393 S.C. at 549, 713 S.E.2d at 603 (“The substance of the law is what must be charged to the jury, not any particular verbiage.”). Importantly, so long as the trial judge’s jury instructions are substantially correct and adequately cover the applicable law, those instructions are considered to be appropriate and not erroneous. State v. Foust, 325 S.C. 12, 16, 479 S.E.2d 50, 52 (1996); see State v. Adkins, 353 S.C. 312, 318, 577 S.E.2d 460, 464 (Ct. App. 2003) (“A jury charge is correct if, when the charge is read as a whole, it contains the correct definition and adequately covers the law.”).

In the case sub judice, Miranda’s appellate challenge to the trial judge’s jury instructions centers on the propriety of the charge on the statutory permissive inference contained in Section 56-5-2950(G). Pursuant to that particular statutory provision, a criminal defendant’s “alcohol concentration at the time of the test, as shown by chemical analysis of the person’s breath or

other body fluids, gives rise to” an inference the person was under the influence of alcohol in a prosecution for driving under the influence, felony driving under the influence, or driving with an unlawful alcohol concentration “if the alcohol concentration was at that time eight one-hundredths of one percent or more[.]” S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2950(G)(3).

Looking to the details of Miranda’s case, Miranda was on trial for felony driving under the influence, and his blood alcohol concentration level at the time of testing conducted shortly after the collision was 0.208 percent as shown by chemical analysis of his blood, which obviously constituted a “body fluid.” *Id.* Under such circumstances, Miranda’s blood alcohol concentration level statutorily gave rise to a permissive inference he was intoxicated based on the plain language of Section 56-5-2950(G), which, tellingly, did not contain any language limiting its applicability to chemical analyses *conducted solely pursuant to provisions of the implied consent statute.*⁷ *See State v. White*, 338 S.C. 56, 58, 525 S.E.2d 261, 263 (Ct. App. 1999) (“We, of course, must take the statute as we find it, giving effect to the legislative intent as expressed in its language. *We cannot under our power of construction supply an omission in the statute.*” (emphasis added)); *see also State v. Carrigan*, 284 S.C. 610, 617, 328 S.E.2d 119, 123 (Ct. App. 1985) (“A court may construe a statute by determining its meaning from the language

⁷ Significantly, the language contained in Section 56-5-2950(C) demonstrates the legislature was fully aware of the wording to employ when it intended to limit the applicability of a particular subsection solely to testing conducted in accordance with the implied consent statute. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2950(C) (“A hospital, physician, qualified technician, chemist, or registered nurse who obtains the samples or conducts the test or participates in the process of obtaining the samples or conducting the test *in accordance with this section* is not subject to a cause of action for assault, battery, or another cause” (emphasis added)); *see also Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 86, 533 S.E.2d 578, 582 (2000) (“The canon of construction ‘*expressio unius est exclusio alterius*’ or ‘*inclusio unius est exclusio alterius*’ holds that ‘to express or include one thing implies the exclusion of another, or of the alternative.’ ”); *cf. Nelson v. Ozmint*, 390 S.C. 432, 436, 702 S.E.2d 369, 371 (2010) (finding the legislature’s inclusion of language allowing for early release in one statute but omitting it in another evidenced the legislature intent for a defendant convicted of the offense delineated in the statute not containing the early release language to be ineligible for early release).

used and its subject matter and purpose. However, there is a marked distinction between a court doing this and court ingrafting upon a statute something the legislature has omitted from it, which the court believes ought to have been included.”). As a result, the statutory permissive inference contained in Section 56-5-2950(G) was relevant and applicable to Miranda’s case, and the legislature could not logically have intended for that inference not to be applicable simply because an otherwise-reliable chemical analysis of Miranda’s blood was conducted at the request of a doctor providing medical treatment as opposed to at the request of a law enforcement officer involved in a criminal investigation. See Wade v. State, 348 S.C. 255, 259, 559 S.E.2d 843, 845 (2002) (“[A] court must reject a statute’s interpretation leading to absurd results not intended by the Legislature.”). Accordingly, the trial judge did not err by accurately instructing the jury on a relevant provision of South Carolina law that was applicable to the facts and circumstances of Miranda’s case. See Rye, 375 S.C. at 123, 651 S.E.2d at 323 (“A trial court’s decision regarding jury charges will not be reversed where the charges, as a whole, properly charged the law to be applied.”).

However, assuming the trial judge somehow did err by instructing the jury on the statutory permissive inference, any error was entirely harmless in light of the evidence and testimony presented during trial. Specifically, looking to the evidence and testimony presented, numerous witnesses testified about the strong odor of alcohol emanating from Miranda following the collision, Miranda’s slurring of his speech, and Miranda’s confused and combative manner. Likewise, testimony was presented regarding Miranda’s refusal to submit to investigative testing of his blood following the crash and Miranda’s admission to both drinking and driving that night. In addition to that testimony, the testimony and evidence presented during trial established Miranda caused the crash by departing his lane of travel and striking Victim’s vehicle head-on.

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